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Bengal, comprising modern Bangladesh and West Bengal of India, was 
considered an important part of Eastern India in the medieval period. Before the 
advent of the Muslims in this land no ruler had connotated Bangala or Bengal in 
the sense of a country. It was then divided into so many Janapadas or 
principalities over which the rulers of various dynasties ruled. On the eve of 
Muslim conquest in the Sena period, Bengal is said to have been divided into five 
principalities of Barendra (the Barind of Muslim historians)1, Radha, Banga, Bagdi 
and Mithila,2 possibly in consideration of the natural barriers and river courses. It 
was sultan Shams al-Din Ilyas Shah (1339-1358 A.D.) who united all the 
administrative divisions of Lakhnawati, Satgaon and Sonargaon, and various 
Janapadas into a compact country, which became widely known as Bangala (the 
Bengal referred to above).3  The north west portion of Bengal is comparatively 
drier and higher land than the south and eastern portions. This facilitated the 
horse riding people of Turkish race to start their conquest and administrative set 
up from this convenient zone of Bengal. We, therefore, find that the Lakhnawati 
kingdom was conquered by Ghazi Ikhtiyar al-Din Muhammad b. Bakhtiyar Khalji 
in 1204 A.D.,4 and gradually comprising the whole of Bengal it emerged as an 
independent Sultanate in Eastern India. Bengal as a country consisted of the vast 
region from Teliagarhi pass in the west to Chittagong in the east and from the 
foot of the Himalayas in the north to the Bay of Bengal in the South.5 In this paper 
we would like to throw light on the education system of the Muslims in Bengal 
during the Sultanate period which extended from its conquest in 1204 A.D. down 
to its annexation to the Mughal empire in 1576 A.D. The theme of this paper may 
be discussed under two broad heads, viz. (i) educational institutions that sprang 
up in Bengal and (ii) the syllabi or the contents of education which were followed 
in these institutions. 

 The acquisition of knowledge has been given the first consideration in 
Islam. The first revelation that came to the Prophet Muhammad started with the 
word ‘Iqra’ or ‘read in the name of the Lord’.6 The Prophet felt proud to declare 
that he was sent as a teacher to the whole of mankind.7 This is why he uttered 
that the seeking of knowledge was obligatory on every Muslim man and woman.8 
The Prophet (sm) by his words and deeds inculcated this idealism in the newly 
founded state and society of Madinah. He compared knowledge with a valuable 
lost thing of the wise. As such its acquisition and collection are considered to be 
desirable from whatever source it may be achieved.9 In analysing the reliable 
sources we may term the imparting of knowledge during the times of the Prophet 
and Khulafa’ rashidun as primary and advanced. Primary knowledge mainly 
centred round the teachings relating to Tawhid or unity of Allah, the different 
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aspects of Iman and ‘Amal or the faith and obligatory deeds while the advanced 
knowledge was concerned with the social, national and international problems 
codified in the Shari‘ah. 
 With these preliminaries let us see first the educational institutions that 
sprang up in Bengal in the period under review. 

In the early days of Islam, masajid were considered to be the main forum 
for the two types of education referred to above i.e. primary and advanced. With 
the expansion of Islamic Commonwealth outside Arabia, masajid retained the 
function of education along with their original purpose as places of prayers to 
Allah. In the later periods madaris were set up in the towns, cities and other 
important places under the patronage of the rulers, nobles and well-to-do persons 
for imparting knowledge to the people in the different branches of Islamic 
learning. Education and educational seminaries flourished fully in the time of the 
Abbasid caliphate in the various conquered territories. The Muslim conquerors 
carried with them the tradition of their predecessors with regard to education to 
the countries conquered or ruled by them. Bengal is not an exception in this 
respect. The Khalji Turks who conquered the Lakhnawati kingdom of Laksmana 
Sena also brought with them the rich cultural heritage of their own country to the 
region they subjugated. The early conquerors of this land (Bengal) were fully 
aware of the fact that without proper arrangement for education and learning the 
military occupation could not last long and the society would be liable to 
disruption. 

This realization possibly at the early period of conquest induced 
Muhammad Bakhtiyar Khalji and his other Khalji maliks to establish masajid 
(mosques), madaris (educational seminaries) and khanqat (seats of religious 
divines) in the capital city and other strategic places of their conquered 
territories.10 Besides the capital Lakhnawati, Dewkut, Narkuti identified with 
Natore and Madisa Santush identified with Mahisantosh grew as administrative 
units in the early period. From the accounts of Tabaqat-i-Nasiri11 it is reasonable 
to presume that all these places had educational institutions in the forms of 
masajid, madaris and  khanqat to impart learning to the people of their respective 
localities. Gradually in the successive periods Gaur, Pandua, Ikdala, Qasbah 
Tabrizabad alias Deotala, Ghoraghat, Satgaon, Sunargaon and Chatgaon 
(modern Chittagong) seem to have grown as cities and urban settlements. These 
places definitely provided educational facilities for the people of their respective 
areas. Due to non-existence of any structural complex it is not possible, in the 
long lapse of time, to locate madaris definitely in particular places. We may trace 
some madaris or institutions of learning from two sources, viz. (a) the epigraphic 
and (b) literary. 

(a) Madaris derived from epigraphic source : On inscriptional evidence it is 
held that a madrasah was built at Triveni in Hoogly district of West Bengal 
of India in the reign of Rukn al-Din Kay-ka’us (1291-1301 A.D.) under the 
patronage of Qadi Nasir in 698 A.H./1298 A.D.12 Another epigraph inserted 
in the northern side of Zafar Khan’s tomb at Triveni reveals the fact that a 
madrasah known as Dar al-Khayrat or the house of benevolence was built 
in the same locality during the reign of Shams al-Din Firuz Shah (1301-1322 



 

 

A.D.) of Bengal under the order of Khan Jahan Zafar Khan in 713 A.H./1313 
A.D.13 S. Ahmed is of opinion that the madrasah mentioned in the above 
two rpigraphs refer to the one and same madrasah in the way that 
extension was made to the madrasah of the time of Rukn al-Din Kay-ka’us 
dated 1298 A.D. by Khan Zafar Khan in 1313 A.D.14 But on the epigraphic 
evidence it is to be pointed out that in the case of second madrasah the 
words used as بدار الخيرات (this madrasah known as the house of 
benevolence was built) clearly testify to the erection of a separate madrasah 
other than the first one which was built a few years earlier in 1298 A.D. No 
such word referring to the meaning of extension or repairing could be traced 
in the contents of the epigraph. We may, therefore, presume that these two 
madrasahs at Triveni, named Firuzabad after sultan Shams al-Din Firuz 
Shah of Bengal, were considered centres of learning in the  Satgaon region. 

The Navagrama inscriptions15 of Nasir al-Din Mahmud Shah (1442-1459 
A.D.) dated A.H. 858/1454 A.D. indicates the existence of an academy for 
learning in the Khittah Simlabad. The internal evidence16 of the epigraph has led 
us to place the Khittah Simlabad in the tract of land comprising some portions of 
northern Panba, south-western Bogra and sourth-eastern Rajshahi of north-
western zone of Bangladesh. It is reasonable to deduce from the inscription that 
the educational institution referred to in the epigraph was located in the Khittah 
Simlabad. Though the contents of the epigraph do not clearly mention the 
existence of a madrasah, the use of the terms ‘ulama’  (teachers) and 
muta’allimun (students)17 therein implies the existence of a madrasah in that 
area. The epigraph, therefore, indirectly refers to the foundation of a masjid and 
madrasah as separate institutions in that administrative unit.18 On the evidence of 
this inscription we may assume that a madrasah was set up in the headquarters 
of Khittah Simlabad during the reign of sultan Nasir al-Din Mahmud Shah of 
Bengal by Ulugh Rahim Khan, the executive head of that administrative unit. 

An inscription of the reign of Shams al-Din Yusuf Shah (1474-1481 A.D.) 
was procured from the debris of Darasbari masjid.19 It records the erection of a 
Jami’ masjid by the sultan in 884 A.H./1479 A.D. The plan of the Darasbari 
Masjid conforms to its being a Jami’ masjid.20 As it is called Darasbari by the local 
people, it is, therefore, possible that arrangement for education was provided in 
the precincts of the mosque. A few yards away on the east side of the mosque 
had been unearthed the site of a structural complex which could be taken for a 
madrasah building on the evidence of an inscription discovered from its debris in 
1973.21 It may be presumed that Shams al-Din Yusuf Shah started constructing a 
Jami’ masjid with the provision of arrangement for learning and a separate 
madrasah in the same locality which is known today as Darasbari. The Jami’ 
masjid was completed in 884 A.H./1479 A.D. while the madrasah building was 
finally completed in the reign of ‘Ala’ al-Din Husayn Shah in 909 A.H./1503-04 
A.D 

Another epigraph of ‘Ala’ al-Din Husayn Shah (1493-1519 A.D.) dated 1st 
Ramadan A.H. 907/10th March, 1502 A.D. records in clear term the erection of a 
madrasah by the order of the sultan.22 As the inscription slab was not in si tu, it is 
not possible to assert anything conclusively regarding the location of the 



 

 

madrasah referred to in the epigraph. The inscription slab was found by 
Westmacott on the enclosure wall of a little mosque, north-west of English bazar 
police station in the district of Malda,23 but no trace of a madrasah could be found 
nearby. It is, therefore, probable that the eipgraph was taken to that place from 
somewhere else. Westmacott and Blochmann are of the opinion that the slab 
may have belonged to some madrasah, the ruins of which exist in Gaur.24 
Stapleton, on the other hand, suggests that the inscription slab must have been 
brought from some madrasah either that at Darasbari or that at Belbari25 We 
have shown above that the madrasah at Darasbari was begun in the reign of 
Shams al-Din Yusuf Shah and was completed in the reign of ‘Ala’ al-Din Husayn 
Shah in 909 A.H./1503-04 A.D. as mentioned in the inscription. Hence, this 
madrasah could be located at Belbari, which was situated on the northern end of 
Chhota Sagar Dighi in Gaur. 

The Kaitahar Inscription26 of ‘Ala’ al-Din Husayn Shah refers to a mosque 
which had possibly proper arrangement for imparting religious education to the 
people of the locality.27 The epigraph is believed to have been fixed above the 
tympanum of the eastern doorway of the mosque built in the reign of ‘Ala’ al-Din 
Husayn Shah in 916 A.H./1510-11 A.D.28 Though at present nothing of the 
original mosque except the bases of three mihrabs in the Qibla wall remain, the 
topography of the place is indicative of its being a place of some importance in 
the medieval time. It may, therefore, be presumed that either the mosque had an 
attached academy for learning or it had contained in itself special arrangement 
for imparting religious knowledge to the people of the area. 

A madrasah seems to have been built at Bagha29 in the Husayn Shahi 
period. An epigraph fixed above the central doorway of the mosque at Bagha 
records the erection of this Jami’ masjid by sultan Nasir al-Din Nusrat Shah 
(1519-1531 A.D.) in A.H. 930/1523-24 A.D.30 From the accounts of Abdul Latif it 
is known that Hawda Mian ran a madrasah in a mud-built house with a thatched 
roof.31 Hawda Mian is possibly a corrupt form of the original name of Hadrat 
Hamid Danishmand. Abdul Latif found him a man of about one hundred years in 
1609 A.D.32 It is, therefore, plausible to take him to be contemporaneous to Nasir 
al-Din Nusrat Shah. Shah Mu‘azzam Dainishmand popularly known as Shah 
Dawlah, the father of Hadrat Hamid Danishmand might have started a khanqah 
and a madrasah in that locality. Gradually the settlement received the name of 
Qasbah, and Nasir al-Din Nusrat Shah, the Bengal sultan realizing its importance 
built a Jami’ masjid at Bagha. We may, therefore, place the madrasah to the 
reign of Nasir al-Din Nusrat Shah who may be credited with founding the Jami’ 
masjid and the madrasah as well in  A.H. 930/1523 A.D. 

It is evident from the epitgraphic sources that there were a number of 
madaris in the important places of Bengal in the 15th and 16th centuries A.D. This 
will lead us to hypothesize that madaris and educational seminaries were opened 
in almost all the administrative headquarters of Bengal in the Sultani period either 
by the Muslim rulers, their deputies or by the individual ‘alim and sufi. 

(b) Madaris derived from literary and other sources: It is stated that 
Mawlana Taqi al-Din ‘Arabi established an educational seminary at 



 

 

Mahisun33 identified with Mahisantosh of present Rajshahi district possibly 
in the middle of the 13th century A.D.34 Yahya Maneri, the father of the 
celebrated sufi and renowned scholar Shaykh Sharaf al-Din Yahya Maneri 
is reported to have received learning under Mawlana Taqi al-Din ‘Arabi at 
Mahisun.35 Yahya is said to have died in 1291 A.D. It is not, therefore, 
unreasonable to assume that Yahya Maneri received his education under. 
Taqi al-Din ‘Arabi in about the middle of the 13th century A.D. at the 
educational seminary of Mahisantosh. In the successive periods of Bengal 
Sultanate this place got much prominence, and ultimately a mint was set 
up there by sultan Rukn al-Din Barbak Shah (1459-1474 A.D.). For this 
reason the town received the name of Barbakabad.36Even today a 
dilapidated mosque,37 city ramparts, and several tombs bear witness to its 
being a place of great importance in the Muslim period of medieval 
Bengal. It is, therefore, more reasonable to say that the academic 
seminary set up by Mawlana Taqi al-Din ‘Arabi at Mahisantosh was further 
developed and patronized by the Muslim rulers of Bengal. This madrasah 
attracted students from other parts of this subcontinent. 

Mawlana Sharaf al-Din Abu Tawwama, an inhabitant of Buhara came to 
Bengal in 1281, settled down at Sonargaon, now in Dhaka district of Bangladesh 
and built a khanqah and an academy for learning in the city.38 Religious as well 
as secular sciences were taught and studied in this great educational seminary of 
Sonargaon. It produced illustrious sages and scholars. Mawlana Sharaf al-Din 
Yahya Maneri was the product of this academy and a student of Mawlana Abu 
Tawwama. The madrasah at Sonargaon earned its fame as a seat of higher 
learning, and to this institution the students from  all over this sub-continent 
flocked together to receive training in all subjects. The founder of this great 
institution of learning Mawlana Abu Tawwama breathed his last in A.H.  700/1300 
A.D., and was buried in Sonargaon.39 However, this madrasah played an 
important role in spreading education in East Bengal in the successive period of 
Bengal Sultanate. 

Pandua emerged as a capital city of the Muslim rulers of Bengal, such as 
Shams al-Din Ilyas Shah, Jalal al-Din Muhammad Shah, Rukn al-Din Barbak 
Shah, Shams al-Din Yusuf Shah and Jalal al-Din Fath Shah who were patrons of 
learning and the learned. It was a centre of spiritual and cultural activities of the 
eminent sages and sufis of the time. The khanqahs of the masha’ikh at Pandua 
provided education for the people of the locality. Hadrat Nur Qutb ‘Alam, an 
eminent sufi of the time, built a great madrasah and a maristan or hospital at 
Pandua. Sultan ‘Ala’ al-Din Husayn Shah made land-grant for these institutions. 

The layout of a Jami masjid in the Mahasthan Garh40 provides in itself three 
raised platforms in the western side. They seem to have been the seats for the 
teachers to teach the students before and after the obligatory prayers.41 Such 
device can be found in almost all the mosques of Persia.42 In case of its being so 
as suggested, it is reasonable to assume that this Jami‘ masjid of Mahasthan 
also met the requirements of an educational seminary in the Sultanate period of 
Bengal. 



 

 

We have tried to give a brief description of important madaris and educational 
seminaries traceable in the epigraphic, literary and other sources. Besides these, 
on further investigation, there may come to light some other educational 
institutions which existed in Bengal in the Sultanate period. 

(ii) Content and course of education: It is very difficult to determine the 
content and course of education accurately in the educational institutions 
mentioned above in the period under study. Sifting materials from various 
sources we may give some ideas about the syllabi and contents of education 
which were followed in those institutions. The Muslim children, as beginners, 
started their primary course in the maktab43 and in the mosque. The maktabs 
were generally attached to the mosques,44 and sometimes they were run by the 
well-to-do persons in their homes. Muslim boys and girls are expected to start 
saying prayers at the age of seven.45 They require at least two years to acquire 
knowledge of their obligatory prayers and other related rituals. It may, therefore, 
be presumed that at the age of five they started their educational career in the 
makatib and  masajid. It was customary to start with bismillah ceremony of a boy 
or girl at the age of four years, four months and four days.46 In any case, we may 
hold that in between the age of four and five years the Muslim boys and girls 
were required to attend the makatib for their primary education. In exceptional 
cases the age may have exceeded five and extended upto seven.47 

Religious instruction seemed to be the basis of primary education in the 
makatib and masajid. An Imam of the mosque as teacher is expected to teach his 
students the fundamentals of Islam and other rituals. Contemporary Bengali 
literature48 substantiates the view that the Mawlavi taught the Muslim children 
about ablution and prayer in the makatib.49 To understand the fundamentals and 
other rituals the students should also have adequate knowledge of the Qur’an 
and Hadith. The Sayyids, the Qadis and the head-men of the Muslim society 
used to decide the various cases in accordance with the injunctions of the holy 
Qur’an and traditions of the Prophet (sm.).50 We may, therefore, presume that the 
Qur’an and the Hadith were also included in the courses of education at the 
primary and higher levels. Muhammad b. Yazdan Bakhsh, a famous muhaddith 
transcribed in Ikdalah three volumes of the Hadith collection of the celebrated 
traditionist al-Bukhari.51 It may at least show the demand of the authentic Hadith 
to be taught in the educational seminaries of Bengal.  

Fiqh or elementary knowledge of jurisprudence is pre-requisite for performing 
the obligatory duties of Islam. The subject was, therefore, in all fairness, included 
into the courses of study at the primary level. Nam-i-Haq52 a work on fiqh in 
elegant Persian, supposed to be a contribution of Muslim Bengal to Islamic 
learning, supports the contention of introducing the fiqh into the courses of study 
at the primary and higher levels as well. In the light of this observation, it is not, 
therefore, unreasonable to conjecture that the Qur’an, Hadith and Fiqh formed 
the main subjects of study in the makatib and masajid of Bengal at the primary 
level. 

Along with these subjects, Arabic, Persian and Bengali as languages were 
taught to the students in the primary stage of their educational career. Arabic as 



 

 

being the language of the Qur’an should have been learnt by the students. The 
epigraphs53 of the Bengal Sultanate testify to the cultivation of Arabic learning by 
the Muslim rulers in the period under review. Persian being the court language54 
was similarly given importance for study in the makatib and masajid in the 
elementary courses. Religious books were also written in Persian. The students 
were, therefore, required to learn Persian to have access to the books written in 
Persian. The accounts of the Chinese envoys in the 15th and 16th centuries A.D. 
regarding nobles and courtiers’ proficiency in Persian and Bangali55support the 
contention. 

The students after completion of the primary education in the makatib and 
masajid would proceed to the madaris for higher education. The madaris 
(institutions of higher learning) provided higher education for the advanced 
students. Advanced learning would, no doubt, be a continuation of the primary 
education. It is, therefore, possible that an analytical study of the Qur’an and 
Hadith formed the principal part of the advanced courses. Tafsir of the Qur’an 
and Tashrih of the Hadith belonged to this category. 

To derive decision on minor questions and multifarious problems from the 
Qur’an and Hadith, Ijtihad played an important role in the system of Islamic 
Shari‘ah. While sending Mu’adh b. Jabal as governor to Yaman, the Prophet 
(sm.) is reported to have praised his desire to exercise his own judgement in the 
cases uncovered by the apparent verdict of the Qur’an and Hadith. Herein lies a 
clear indication of the role of ijtihad in Muslim legal system. The madrasah 
founded and maintained by Ghiyath al-Din A‘zam Shah (1392-1410 A.D.), a 
Bengal sultan in 813 A.H./1410-11 A.D. at al-Makkah near Umm-i-Hani gate 
provided teaching for the students of four schools of Muslim jurisprudence.56 An 
account of the students studying in that madrasah57 shows that the madrasah 
was meant to impart advanced learning on fiqh specially for the students of four 
schools of jurisprudence. We may, therefore, come to this conclusion that an 
advanced study of fiqh also formed one of the main subjects of study in the 
madaris of Bengal. Ghiyath al-Din A‘zam Shah belonged to the Hanafite school of 
law.58 His descendants are expected to follow in his track, and, therefore, almost 
all the sultans of Bengal belonged to the Hanafite school. However, they showed 
liberal attitude to other schools of law as is evident from the patronization of four 
schools equally in the madrasah of Makkah.59 This fact leads us to infer that the 
madaris built by the Muslim rulers in various parts of Bengal opened courses on 
four schools of fiqh. But the population being predominantly Hanafite, the madaris 
were mostly attended by them. 

Besides these subjects, other sciences such as logic, arithmetic, medicine, 
alchemy, hindasa (geometry), astronomy and others were also taught in he 
madaris. Though of later period, the statement of Abu’l Fadl confirms this. He 
writes, “Every boy ought to read books on morals, arithmetic, agriculture, 
mensuration, geometry, astronomy, physiognomy, household matters, rules of 
governmental, medicine, logic, higher mathematics, science and history, all of 
which may gradually be acquired.”60 The madaris for advanced studies kept 
provisions for all these subjects for the students. But they were not required to 



 

 

study each and every subject. There had been different grades of madaris on the 
basis of the subjects taught in them. 

Anatomy as a branch of medical science was considered a subject of study in 
the madaris of first grade. In an epigraph Jalal al-Din Fath Shah (1481-1486 A.D.) 
is designated as kashif or interpretor of the secrets of the Qur’an and ‘alim or 
learned in the knowledge of religions and bodies.61 These connotations, ascribed 
to the sultan, substantiate the view of introducing the tafsir (commentary of the 
Qur’an), comparative study of religions and the science of anatomy in the 
madaris of higher learning. Sultan Ghiyath al-Din A’zam Shah was an archer,62 
and archery formed an important technique in the art of warfare.63 Archery, 
therefore, seemed to have been taught to those interested in it, in the academy of 
higher learning. Hidayat-i-Rami,64 a book on archery compiled by Muhammad 
Buda’i better known as Sayyid Mir ‘Alawi in the reign of ‘Ala’ al-Din Husayn Shah 
supports the contention. 

Beautiful writing on the inscription slabs of the masajid and other monuments 
of Bengal leads us to infer that penmanship was introduced as an important 
subject of study in the madaris of higher learning. The names of two calligrapher-
artists are traced in two epigraphs.65 For transcribing books studied in the 
madaris, in the absence of printing press in the period under study, and for 
engraving inscriptions on the stone-slabs of the monuments, expert hands in 
penmanship were needed. It may, therefore, be presumed that this subject was 
assiduously studied by the advanced students in the academies for higher 
learning. 

The nature of the subjects studied in the madaris of higher learning required 
proficiency in Arabic and Persian languages. In order to pursue the subjects of 
higher study written either in Arabic or in Persian, the learners should have 
achieved mastery over them. The epigraphs of Bengal incised in Arabic in the 
period under review show the extent of cultivation of Arabic language by the 
Muslim rulers. This bears witness to the fact that Arabic was seriously studied in 
the madaris of higher learning in Bengal. Sultan Ghiyath al-Din A‘zam Shah’s 
proficiency in Persian and his composing of verses in this language66 testify to 
the study of Persian language in the madaris. We may, therefore, presume that 
the courses on Arabic and Persian were given to the students in the madaris of 
higher learning in the period of Bengal Sultanate. 

The madaris of higher learning were, in all fairness, financed by the Muslim 
rulers of Bengal. It appears from the epigraphic sources that grants were 
awarded by the rulers to the teachers as well as to the pupils.67 The madrasah at 
Qasba Bagha described as an endowed institution of long standing68 was run by 
the grant of some neighbouring villages as madad-i-ma‘ash.69 According to local 
tradition70 a land grant of 2750 bighas continued a lakharaj even in the 19th 
century A.D. for running mosque, madrasah and other religious institutions in 
Mahisantosh. It is at least indicative of land endowment for running the religious 
institutions by the Muslim rulers of Bengal. 



 

 

Sultan Ghiyath al-Din ‘Iwad Khalji (1212-1226 A.D.) built masajid, madaris 
and caravan sarais in his conquered territories and bestowed gifts on the 
learned.71 This referes to the fact that the sultan bore the expenses of these 
institutions along with their accessories. Epigraphic records72 ascribe the title of 
badhil to some sultans.73 In Arabic terminology badhil derived from the root badhl 
refers to the person who spends money in some benevolent works to obtain 
Allah’s blessings. Construction and maintenance of madaris may be regarded as 
one of the virtuous works. Some sultans were also referred to as fadil (learned) 
and kamil (ripe in understanding) in the epigraphs.74 Taking into consideration the 
connotations of ‘alim, badhil, kamil and kashif75 (of the secrets of the Qur’an) 
ascribed to the sultans in the epigraphs, we may come to this proposition that the 
madaris mentioned above were run by the endowment of the Muslim rulers of 
Bengal. 

This brief survey on the education system of Bengal Sultanate gives us a 
bright picture regarding the state of learning as well as the direct patronage of the 
sultans for education in the medieval period. All these factors, therefore, testify to 
the height of culture and civilization which the Muslims attained during the times 
of Bengal Sultanate (1204-1576 A.D.). 
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